IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CHRISTIAN STEPHON MILES,)
Appellant,))
V.)
THE STATE OF NEVADA,	
Respondent.))

No. 79554

Electronically Filed Mar 15 2021 08:13 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Petition for Review

Pursuant to NRAP 40B, appellant, Christian Stephon Miles, petitions for

Supreme Court review of the Court of Appeals' Amended Order of Affirmance

entered on January 29, 2021. See Ex. 1.

DATED: March 15, 2021.

/s/ Mario D. Valencia MARIO D. VALENCIA

Nevada Bar No. 6154 40 S. Stephanie St., Ste. 201 Henderson, Nevada 89012 (702) 384-7494 *Attorney for Miles*

Questions Presented for Review

1. In *Culverson v. State*, this Court held that a sentence, even if it is within statutory limits, is unconstitutional if it is unreasonably disproportionate to the offense. Miles argued his aggregate sentence (back-to-back life sentences) is unreasonably disproportionate to his nonviolent offenses and thus unconstitutional. The Court of Appeals nevertheless affirmed his sentence because "the sentences fell within statutory parameters." Does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with *Culverson*?

Miles was sentenced to four consecutive sentences, including back-to-back

life sentences, for nonviolent offenses and despite not being a habitual criminal.

He argued on appeal that his aggregate sentence was unconstitutional because,

even if each individual sentence is within statutory limits, the ultimate aggregate

sentence is unreasonably disproportionate to his offenses. The Court of Appeals

held that the district court "did not abuse its discretion" because the "sentences"

— not the aggregate "sentence" — "fell within statutory parameters." Amended

Order of Affirmance at 3. Supreme Court review is warranted to determine

whether the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Culverson v. State, 95 Nev.

433, 596 P.2d 220 (1979). See NRAP 40B(a)(2).

2. According to *Hooks v. State* and *Banks v. State*, a defendant should understand the elements of *each* crime charged, the possible penalties, and the *total possible sentence* he could receive if convicted, in order to knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive his right to counsel. Miles did not understand the elements of *each* crime charged, the possible penalties, and the *total possible sentence*

he could receive if convicted. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals held that Miles's waiver of the right to counsel was valid. Does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with *Hooks* and *Banks*?

According to this Court's prior decisions in Hooks v. State, 124 Nev. 48, 176 P.3d 1081 (2008), and Banks v. State, 2019 WL 4791704, No. 75106, (September 27, 2019) (unpublished disposition), in order for a defendant's waiver of the right to counsel to be knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made, a defendant should understand the elements of *each* crime charged, the possible penalties or punishments, and the total possible sentence he could receive if convicted. General warnings about the dangers of self-representation and general questions about such things as age and education are insufficient to establish a valid waiver. Hooks, 124 Nev. at 56-57, 176 P.3d at 1085-86 (general warnings about the dangers of self-representation and limited inquiry into education insufficient for a valid waiver, and "of particular significance . . . it d[id] not appear that Hooks understood the potential sentence when he chose to represent himself").

Miles did not understand the elements of *each* crime charged. He also did not understand the possible penalties or punishments for each offense. And he did not understand the *total possible sentence* he could receive if convicted.

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals held that Miles's waiver was knowingly,

intelligently, and voluntarily made because the district court warned Miles multiple times that "waiving his right to counsel was ill-advised," and that he faced *a* — not multiple — potential life sentence. *Amended Order of Affirmance* at 7. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Hooks* and *Banks*. Supreme Court review is warranted. *See* NRAP 40B(a)(2).

Argument

I. The Court of Appeals' decisions conflicts with *Culverson v. State*.

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's prior decision in *Culverson v. State*, which holds that a sentence, even if it is within statutory limits, is unconstitutional if it "is so *unreasonably disproportionate* to the offense as to shock the conscience." 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220, 221-22 (1979) (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals held the opposite.

In its Order of Affirmance, the Court of Appeals noted that Miles's argument is that the "district court violated his Eighth Amendment right to be protected from cruel and unusual punishment when it imposed his sentences to run consecutively because the ultimate sentence [*i.e.*, back-to-back life sentences for nonviolent crimes] was [unreasonably] disproportionate to the offenses he committed." *Order of Affirmance* at 2. Rather than address Miles's constitutional argument, however, the Court of Appeals held that "the district court did not abuse

its discretion because *the sentences fell within statutory parameters.*" *Id.* at 3 (emphasis added). After Miles filed a petition for rehearing because the court overlooked and failed to address his constitutional argument, the Court of Appeals filed an Amended Order of Affirmance stating the exact same thing — "the district court did not abuse its discretion because *the sentences fell within the statutory parameters*" — but added "and the sentences were not disproportionate." *Amended Order of Affirmance* at 3 (emphasis added).

Whether the Court of Appeals' amended decision means (1) there was no abuse of discretion because the sentences are within statutory parameters and no abuse of discretion because the sentences are proportionate, or (2) there was no abuse of discretion because the sentences are within statutory limits and, besides there being no abuse of discretion, the sentences are proportionate, the Court of Appeals' amended decision misses the constitutional point and conflicts with *Culverson*.

The issue is not, and Miles never argued, whether a district court has discretion or abused its discretion in imposing the sentences it did. Nor is the issue whether the individual *sentences*, plural, are within statutory parameters. There's no question the sentences are within statutory parameters and a district court has discretion to impose consecutive sentences. Miles's argument is that, even if each individual sentence is within statutory parameters, his aggregate sentence is "unreasonably disproportionate" to his nonviolent crimes and thus unconstitutional as explained in *Culverson*. Put another way, although a district court has discretion to impose consecutive sentences, doing so may result in an aggregate sentence that is "so *unreasonably disproportionate* to the offense as to shock the conscience." In which case, the aggregate sentence is unconstitutional pursuant to *Culverson*. 95 Nev. at 435, 596 P.2d at 221-22.

Miles's aggregate sentence is unconstitutionally disproportionate, as shown below.

A. The district court's sole reason for imposing all consecutive sentences is factually inaccurate.

Miles was sentenced to four consecutive sentences, including back-to-back life sentences, for nonviolent crimes. *Opening Brief* at 7, 22. The *sole* reason the district court gave for imposing this punishment was "because [he had] done it before." *Opening Brief* at 22 (*citing* 8 AA 1373). But he hadn't "done it before." He didn't have any prior convictions for Sex Trafficking of a Child under 18 Years of Age or First Degree Kidnapping.¹ There also are mitigating facts in this

¹ To be sure, Miles did have a prior conviction for pandering, which is a category C felony. *See* Supplemental PSI 5-6; *see also* NRS 201.300(1). Nevertheless, he did not have any prior convictions for the crimes he was charged with and convicted of in this case. *See* Supplemental PSI 5-6.

case.

B. Proportionality analysis

Constitutional challenges are reviewed de novo. *Grey v. State*, 124 Nev. 110, 117, 178 P.3d 154, 159 (2008). True, Nevada courts possess wide sentencing discretion, *see Houk v. State*,103 Nev. 659, 664, 747 P.2d 1376, 1379 (1987), but they may not impose a sentence that is "so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience." *Chavez v. State*, 125 Nev. 328, 348, 213 P.3d 476, 489 (2009) (citation omitted). Such a sentence is unconstitutional. *Culverson*, 95 Nev. at 435, 596 P.2d at 221-22.

Although Nevada district courts have been given little guidance on sentencing proportionality, the United States Supreme Court has instructed that proportionality "should be guided by objective criteria, including (i) the gravity of the offense and the harshness of the penalty; (ii) the sentences imposed on other criminals in the same jurisdiction; and (iii) the sentences imposed for commission of the same crime in other jurisdictions." *Solem v. Helm*, 463 U.S. 277, 292 (1983). Using this objective criteria to analyze Miles's aggregate sentence shows how it is unreasonably disproportionate to his offenses.

First, the gravity of Miles's offenses does not match the ultimate penalty imposed. Miles used no violence or force, and the victim (Gabby) — a 16-year-old

teenager at the time who escaped from house arrest — was complicit. *See* 4 AA 572, 577-79. Without downplaying the severity of kidnapping in general, this case is simply not a typical kidnapping. Gabby was not forcibly taken from her home to unwillingly commit illegal acts. Rather, she purposefully ran away from home because she wanted to engage in prostitution, which she had done before (thus, the reason she was on house arrest). *See* 4 AA 574-75, 577-79.

Second, district courts have imposed concurrent sentences in this jurisdiction for more violent and extreme crimes. *See e.g.*, *Hubbard v. State*, 134 Nev. 450, 453, 422 P.3d 1260, 1263 (2018) (burglary, conspiracy to commit robbery, assault, and discharge of a firearm); *Hathaway v. State*, 119 Nev. 248, 251, 71 P.3d 503, 505 (2003) (first-degree murder, sexual assault, and attempted sexual assault). In comparison to these other, egregiously violent crimes, it is clear that running all of Miles's sentences consecutively resulted in an unreasonably disproportionate sentence in light of the facts and circumstances of this case.

Finally, other jurisdictions have allowed kidnapping sentences to run concurrently, even in cases that involve violent crimes in addition to kidnapping. *See e.g.*, *State v. Gordon*, 161 Ariz. 308, 778 P.2d 1204 (1989) (burglary, kidnapping, and sexual assault); *People v. Reynolds*, 638 P.2d 43 (Colo. 1981) (rape, kidnapping, and deviate sexual intercourse by force). If these cases have allowed concurrent sentencing, the same could have been done in this case to prevent an unreasonably disproportionate aggregate sentence.

C. Conclusion

Miles's offenses are deserving of substantial consequences, but his aggregate sentence (back-to-back life sentences and then some) reflects much more egregious, violent crimes. It is unreasonably disproportionate, even if each individual sentence is within statutory parameters. The Court, therefore, should reverse the Court of Appeals' decision because it conflicts with *Culverson*.

II. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Hooks v. State* and *Banks v. State*.

"To knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive the right to counsel, the defendant should . . . be made aware of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, so that the record will establish that he knows what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes open." *Hooks v. State*, 124 Nev. 48, 54, 176 P.3d 1081, 1084 (2008) (internal citations and quotations omitted). This requires that a defendant "understand 'the elements of *each* crime' charged, including 'the possible penalties or punishments, and *the total possible sentence* the defendant could receive' if convicted." *Banks v. State*, 2019 WL 4791704, *1, No. 75106, (September 27, 2019) (unpublished disposition) (emphasis added) (citing SCR

253(3)(f), (g); *Hooks*, 124 Nev. at 54, 176 P.3d at 1084).

The record in this case unequivocally shows that Miles did not understand the elements of *each* crime he was charged with, and he did not understand "the possible penalties or punishments, and *the total possible sentence* [he] could receive" if convicted. *Banks*, 2019 WL 4791704,*1 (emphasis added); *see also Hooks*, 124 Nev. at 56-57, 176 P.3d at 1086 (reversing due to a limited inquiry into a defendant's understanding of "the dangers, disadvantages, and *consequences* of representing himself at trial," noting that a lack of understanding "the potential sentence" was of "particular significance") (emphasis added).