IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CHRISTIAN STEPHON MILES,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Apr 08 2021 09:12 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

CASE NO: 79554

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

COMES NOW the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County District Attorney, through his Deputy, JOHN NIMAN, and answers this Petition for Review in obedience to this Court's order filed March 29, 2021, in the above-captioned case.

This answer is based on the following memorandum of points and authorities and all papers and pleadings on file herein.

Dated this 8th day of April, 2021.

Respectfully submitted,

ARGUMENT

"Supreme Court review is not a matter of right but of judicial discretion." NRAP 40B(a). Pursuant to that statute, the Supreme Court considers certain factors when determining whether to review a Court of Appeals decision, including, "(1) Whether the question presented is one of first impression of general statewide significance; (2) Whether the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a prior decision of the Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court, or the United States Supreme Court; or (3) Whether the case involves fundamental issues of statewide public importance." NRAP 40B(a). Appellants bear the burden of "succinctly stat[ing] the precise basis on which [they] seek[] review by the Supreme Court." NRAP 40B(d).

Appellant raises two claims in support of Supreme Court review. First, Appellant argues that the Court of Appeals ("COA") Amended Order of Affirmance ("COA Affirmance") conflicts with the Nevada Supreme Court decision in Culverson v. State, 95 Nev. 433, 596 P.2d 220 (1979), as it upheld a sentence that was allegedly disproportionate. Petition for Review ("Petition") at 1. Second, Appellant argues that the COA Affirmance also conflicts with Hooks v. State, 124 Nev. 48, 176 P.3d 1081 (2008), as Appellant allegedly did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive his right to counsel. Id. at 1-3.

¹ Appellant also includes a reference to <u>Banks v. State</u>, Supreme Court Case No. 75106, 2019 WL 4791704 (September 27, 2019) (unpublished disposition) as grounds for this Court's review. Petition at 1-3. This is not a cognizable reason for

I. APPELLANT FAILS TO DEMONSTRATE THE COA AFFIRMANCE **CONFLICTS WITH CULVERSON**

Appellant first claims that his sentence is disproportionate, and therefore is unconstitutional. See Petition at 3-8. Specifically, Appellant claims that his sentence was based on incorrect reasoning by the district court. Id. at 5. Appellant also argues that the sentences being imposed consecutively "shocks the conscience" so as to render Appellant's aggregate sentence unconstitutional. Id. at 6-8. Appellant's arguments are unavailing, and are further belied by the COA Affirmance.

Appellant's "sole reason" argument is belied by the record Α.

Appellant argues that the district court based its sentencing decision on one, "sole reason." Petition at 5 (emphasis in original). However, the COA made the following analysis when upholding Appellant's conviction and sentence: "The district court based its decision on the facts of the case, Miles's criminal history, and a psychosexual evaluation depicting Miles as 'a high risk to re-offend both sexually and violently." COA Affirmance at 3. Therefore, because the COA found *multiple* reasons upon which the district court based its sentencing decision – which reasons, according to the COA, ratified the sentence imposed - Appellant's allegation of

review. See NRAP 36(c)(2) ("An unpublished disposition...does not establish mandatory precedent..."). As such, the State has focused its argument on addressing Hooks, 124 Nev. 48, 176 P.3d 1081.

"factual inaccuracy" is belied by the record and cannot justify review of the COA Affirmance.

B. Appellant's sentence is constitutional under Nevada precedent

Appellant next argues that the imposition of consecutive sentences is disproportionate such "as to shock the conscience" and render his sentence unconstitutional. Petition at 6 (quoting Chavez v. State, 125 Nev. 328, 348, 213 P.3d 476, 489 (2009)). Appellant also relies on Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 292 (1983) to argue that the COA should have found unreasonable disproportionality. Id.

The COA Affirmance expressly explains why Appellant's sentence does not "shock the conscience": first, Appellant's individual sentences fell within the applicable statutory limits. See COA Affirmance at 2-3. Second, Appellant's psychosexual evaluation determined that Appellant was "a high risk" to commit further offenses "both sexually and violently." See id. at 3. Therefore, the COA concluded, "the district court did not abuse its discretion because the sentences fell within the statutory parameters and the sentences were not disproportionate." <u>Id.</u>

The COA's rationales are supported by Nevada precedent. The Nevada Supreme Court has determined that, as long as a sentence is within the statutory limits, a sentence will not normally be considered cruel or unusual. Glegola v. State, 110 Nev. 344, 871 P.2d 950 (1994). Furthermore, the Nevada Supreme Court has recognized the Legislature's intent to grant district courts wide discretion when imposing sentences concurrently or consecutively. Pitmon v. State, 131 Nev. 1334, 352 P.3d 655 (Ct. App. 2015).

While Appellant references other Nevada cases in which violent crimes received concurrent sentences,² Appellant's argument amounts to a mere demonstration of the district courts' recognized "wide discretion" in imposing sentences. See e.g., Houk v. State, 103 Nev. 659, 664, 747 P.2d 1376, 1379 (1987). Indeed, "[t]he Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution does not require strict proportionality between crime and sentence but forbids only an extreme sentence that is grossly disproportionate to the crime." Chavez, 125 Nev. at 347-48, 213 P.3d at 489; accord. Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. 957, 1000-01, 111 S.Ct. 2680 (1991) (plurality opinion). Therefore, Appellant's reference fails to undermine the COA Affirmance.

Finally, the Nevada Supreme Court has declined to apply a Solem analysis to any Nevada case, and should continue to do so here. See Houk, 103 Nev. 659, 747 P.2d 1376; see also Sims v. State, 107 Nev. 438, 814 P.2d 63 (1991); see also Castillo v. State, 110 Nev. 535, 874 P.2d 1252 (1994) (disapproved of on other grounds by Wood v. State, 111 Nev. 428, 892 P.2d 944 (1995)). Instead, the Nevada Supreme

² While Appellant also references foreign cases and sentences, Appellant has failed to allege, much less demonstrate, that those cases have been adopted in Nevada, or that the respective statutes applicable in those cases are sufficiently similar to Nevada so as to be persuasive. See Petition at 7-8.

Court has consistently echoed its standard of review for allegedly excessive criminal sentences, expressly stating, "we do not review nondeath sentences for excessiveness." 132 Nev. 410, 414, 373 P.3d 98, 102 (2016). As Appellant is not subject to a sentence of death, this Court should continue to deny the review Appellant seeks.

In sum, Appellant fails to demonstrate that his sentence is so disproportionate so as to "shock the conscience." Moreover, Appellant fails to specifically demonstrate how the COA Affirmance conflicts with Culverson, as the Culverson Court *upheld* a sentence that fell within the statutory limits. See 95 Nev. at 435, 596 P.2d at 221-22. As such, Appellant is not entitled to review of the COA Affirmance. NRAP 40B(a).

APPELLANT FAILS TO DEMONSTRATE THE COA AFFIRMANCE II. **CONFLICTS WITH HOOKS**

Appellant next argues that, because he could did not sufficiently "understand the elements of each crime," nor "the dangers, disadvantages, and consequences of representing himself," he did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive his right to counsel. Petition at 8-9 (citing Hooks, 124 Nev. 48, 176 P.3d 1081). Appellant's argument is belied by the record.

In affirming Appellant's conviction, the COA rejected Appellant's argument about the district court's canvass, finding that the district court "properly conducted a Faretta canvass and determined Miles's waiver was knowing, intelligent, and

voluntary." COA Affirmance at 7. In so finding, the COA noted, "the district court is not constitutionally required to inquire into any particular matter for a valid waiver if 'it is apparent from the record that the defendant was aware of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation." Id. (quoting Graves v. State, 112 Nev. 118, 125, 912 P.2d 234, 238-39 (1996)). Of significance, the COA made specific findings in support of its conclusion that Appellant was aware of the referenced dangers and disadvantages:

The district court warned Miles multiple times during its Faretta canvass that waiving his right to counsel was ill-advised. Also, despite only informing Miles what his potential sentence could be if convicted of one charge and not all of them, the district court stressed that his potential sentence could be life imprisonment.

Id.

The district court's decision – and the COA's affirmance thereof – are expressly supported by Nevada and U.S. Supreme Court precedent. The U.S. Supreme Court explained in <u>Faretta</u> that an accused may insist on representing himself, "however counterproductive that course may be." Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 835, 95 S.Ct. 2525 (1975). Consistently, the U.S. Supreme Court later explained, "[t]he right to defend is personal,' and a defendant's choice in exercising that right 'must be honored out of that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law." McCoy v. Louisiana, 138 S.Ct. 1500, 1507, 200 L.Ed.2d 821 (2018) (quoting Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 350-51, 90 S.Ct. 1057 (1970) (Brennan, J., concurring)). The Nevada Supreme Court has elaborated that the test is not whether a defendant is *capable* to defend themselves; instead, it is error for the district court to deny an accused the opportunity to represent themselves as long as the waiver is knowing and voluntary. Vanisi, 117 Nev. 330, 337-38, 22 P.3d 1164, 1169-70 (2001).

Therefore, in light of Appellant's continued insistence that he be allowed to represent himself, the COA reasonably determined:

...the district court did not abuse its discretion in allowing Miles to represent himself because his choice to waive his right to counsel was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, supported by the record that shows he acknowledged numerous times the disadvantages of selfrepresented, and because the court inquired into a plethora of criteria for its determination.

COA Affirmance at 8.

Indeed, Appellant's invocation of Hooks is puzzling. See Petition at 8. The Hooks Court explicitly affirmed that reviewing courts must "give deference to the district court's decision to allow the defendant to waive his right to counsel." 124 Nev. at 55, 176 P.3d at 1085. The Hooks Court further maintained its long-held position "that even the omission of a canvass is not reversible error if it appears from the whole record that the defendant knew his rights and *insisted upon representing* himself." Id. (emphasis added) (interior citations and modifications omitted). As such, the COA Affirmance is directly in line with Hooks when it explained, "Miles affirmatively desired to represent himself, and the court must honor his choice."

COA affirmance at 9. Because the COA Affirmance is in line with <u>Hooks</u>, it does not meet the criteria for review under NRAP 40B(a).

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing and the record before this Court, the State respectfully submits that Appellant's Petition for Review should be denied.